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‘I Thirst!’

How it all began

When the Sisters, Faithful Companions of Jesus, came to Liverpool in
1844, it was because in Father Parker’s invitation to come to Saint Patrick’s
parish, they heard the cry of Jesus: ‘T Thirst.

Marie Madeleine d’'Houét, the foundress, had herself heard those words
as she waited for Mass on the feast of the Sacred Heart of Jesus in 1817.

‘On the feast of the Sacred Heart I was waiting for Mass...
Suddenly I distinctly heard a voice calling to me from the
Crucifix on the altar: ‘I thirst’.

I was deeply moved by these words.

I knelt in adoration and offered myself to God

with my whole heart for all that he asked of me.

The feast itself was significant since it is the celebration of the tender,
caring compassionate love of God revealed to us in the person of Jesus.
He compared himself to a mother hen longing to gather her chicks under
her wing; to a shepherd who risks everything for the sake of a sheep which
has gone astray. The crucifix is the sign of the culminating redemptive act,
the sign of Jesus’ passion, the sign of his zeal. The altar, of course, is the
sacred place of the on-going sacrifice.

“Thirst, whilst describing an intense physical state is also applicable to
a state of yearning, of longing and Marie Madeleine understood this
thirst of Jesus to be his great longing to draw us all to his Father. As the
days went by she understood more clearly that the words encompassed
not simply the thirst of the historical Jesus but his on-going thirst to be
known and loved throughout the world to the end of time. Furthermore
she realised that the words also encompassed the thirst of Jesus incarnate
in the contemporary world.



Her immediate response was her self-offering from a stance of adoration
and wonder; the offering of herself for whatever God might ask.. Hers
was not a response to a specified need, but a wholehearted,open-ended
response to the Lord. Gradually she learnt that she was to be primar-
ily a companion, a faithful companion of Jesus; of Jesus thirsting.... This
immediately puts her into relationship with people. As future generations
were to say: ‘Our mission is always to persons, to those whom Jesus calls
his brothers and sisters, those of whom be says ‘whatever you do to them,
you do to me’

So the Society which Marie Madeleine founded was centred on Jesus
and devoted to education, retreat work and missions wherever they were
needed. In this way the Sisters would share in the mission of Jesus,teacher,
healer, revelation of the Father. In the early years of the nineteenth century
the crying needs in post-revolutionary France were for basic education
especially of the poor - and of women and girls. They had been deprived
of any opportunity for basic education, even for basic hygiene, and, in
many cases, of any preparation for earning a decent living. Similarly
they had been deprived of religious instruction and preparation for the
sacraments.

Early Foundations

In 1820, Marie Madeleine began in a small way in Amiens, in the Somme.
Her maxim was ‘the children before everything. She gathered together
youngsters who spent their day teasing out cotton ends so that their
parents might spin and weave them as a means of livelihood. As their
parents spent twelve hours a day in the factories, so these children spent
twelve hours a day with the Sisters. Songs, bible tales and hymns were
simple means she used whilst the children got on with their appointed task;
opportunities to play and especially opportunities to play in a garden were
rich reward for attendance! In addition to the cotton pickers, there were
groups of girls who, besides receiving a basic education,were being trained



for positions in domestic service, as laundresses and maids. More than 80
factory girls came in the evenings from 7p.m. to 10p.m. and with them
came ‘elderly women who have forgotten how to pray and have not made
their first communion.... They have now promised to come on Sunday
afternoons if I can give them a playing-ground’

In 1823 the Archbishop of Bourges invited her to make a second foun-
dation, this time in Chéteauroux. He pointed out to her that no other
town in France was in greater need... a sure way of touching her heart!
She again made sure she had a building and a garden large enough for
her purpose. She rented an old Convent which had been taken over as
a prison during the Revolution and lately served as Senate House. The
building gave her lots of scope for setting up schools. Each morning at
seven oclock no fewer than five hundred small girls arrived, most of them
with their baskets of cotton ends, attracted not only by the free school but
inevitably by its Park. Once again she had large gatherings on Sundays,
young women, old women, mothers with their children, all eager for
instruction in the faith denied them for so long. Songs, hymns, stories,
games and gentle conversation - Marie Madeleine saw them all as means
of bringing the love of Jesus to those thirsting for it.

London

By 1830 Madame d’'Houét was ready for the Society to expand beyond
France. She set out for Belgium with Mother Julie Guillemet, the youngest
and dearest of the first group of Sisters. Belgium proved to be in the grip
of the struggle for independence and the travellers were advised to try
London and given a letter of introduction to Father Nerinckx, a refugee
priest there.

Madame d’'Houét had no English at all! Mother Julie had studied the rules
of English grammar without ever having spoken the language! Undeterred
they set out and reached their destination on Julie’s twenty-third birth-
day! The greater part of the remaining twenty seven years of her life was
destined to be spent in England.



Father Nerinckx and his sister were: found to be in charge of a well estab-
lished school for girls in London, at Somers Town. It had been founded
by Abbe Caron, for children of families wbo bad fled from France, and
passed by him to the care of the Nerinckxes. Now they in their turn asked
Madame d’Houét to accept it. Convinced that this was what God wanted.
Marie Madeleine agreed to take over the responsibility.

On December 10th, an English speaking young lady came, asking to join
the Society. Mary Stokes was from Ireland. She says of herself ‘T under-
stood French and spoke it a little] Marie Madeleine arranged for her to
stay with Mother Julie for a while before going to one of the French foun-
dations to make her noviceship. On December 23rd three more Sisters
arrived from France and the enterprise was ready to begin Mother Julie
was in charge and had won all hearts by her sweetness and gentleness.
In 1835 a second house was opened in London: a foundation was made
at Tottenham for poor children. The pastor there was the Rt Rev. Dr
Branston and his notice in the Laity Directory of 1832 states that

without these schools, these poor children would be either decoyed
into the numerous sectarian schools in the neighbourhood, or be
suffered to wander about the streets and exposed to every kind of
wickedness. These schools are, therefore, an asylum for these poor
children; but to continue open this asylum, pecuniary assistance
is indispensably required; tor the pastor has no funds whatever at
his disposal.

In 1840 there was a foundation made at Isleworth in West London.
Madame d'Houét had been hoping for an opportunity to estab-
lish a boarding school for girls seeing this as a means of doing good
among those who would be in a position to influence others later on.
In order to be able to buy Gumley House she had to acquire a cer-
tificate of residence which, she says, ‘the Queen and Parliament



have graciously granted me. The Spring of 1841 was sheer delight to her,
the gardens, the birds, the shrubs were unfailing sources of joy and must
have been a great change for Mother Julie who left Somers Town to super-
vise the new foundation.

The following year brought not simply a new foundation but a foundation
in a new country.

Liverpool via Oughterard

Dr. Kirwan, parish priest of Oughterard in Connemara, came to London
appealing for funds. He visited the parishes at both Somers Town and
Gumley and having met the Faithful Companions of Jesus decided to
invite them to the West of Ireland. In 1843 Julie set off to investigate the
situation. Before long she had rented a house there and begun a school for
the poor children.

In 1844 Doctor Kirwan, well known as a fine preacher, was invited by
his friend, Father Parker, Parish Priest of St Patrick’s Parish in Liverpool
to preach the Annual Charity Sermon on behalf of the school which had
been opened in 1835. St Patrick’s was a parish with a large Irish population
who, like the French in London, had been forced out of their own country,
though in this case: by famine and economic need. Like the French fami-
lies in Amiens and Chateauroux twenty years previously these families
knew poverty, sickness and hardship; deprived of instruction in the faith
and basic education their needs were obvious and great. As Father Parker
related them all to his friend and asked his advice, Dr. Kirwan had only
one answer: See Mother Julie and ask her to ask Madame d’Houét to send
Sisters to Liverpool.

Fr. Parker who was ‘distressed by the misery material and spiritual’
of his people, took his friend’s advice and went to Isleworth where he
successfully pleaded his case with Mother Julie. On May 29th 1844,
in the name of the foundress, she promised him that the Faithful
Companions of Jesus would accept the direction of his school if he



in his turn would undertake to help them open a boarding school. In the
years since her first arrival in England, Madame d'Houét had come to see
the importance of being involved with more than one type of good work.
She did not want her Sisters to be dependent financially on the work in
parish schools and in addition the establishment of boarding schools
served another kind of need. There was too the hope that, like Gumley
and Somers Town, it might provide candidates for the expanding works
of the Society.

Most of us today are riveted by photographs of famine stricken Ethiopians
and Rwandan refugees. But in the Ireland of the 1840s there were the
same pathetic skeletons, the same starving eyes and the immigrants to
Liverpool were in effect refugees.

In August both Marie Madeleine and Julie spent some days in
Liverpool. There she met Bishop George Brown and his assistant
Monsignor Sharples. From them she learned of the grave social
evils resulting from the industrialisation of the port of Liverpool,
of the misery and vice rampant in overcrowded areas, the degra-
dation of men and women born in the faith but without instruc-
tion, often without hope. She heard how little children between
the ages of six and twelve were employed in the textile industry,
spending fourteen hours a day knotting the threads on the looms
for a wage of a few pence, hardly sufficient to buy a loaf of bread.
The Foundpress rapidly lost her heart to the poor of Liverpool.

(God’s Faithful Instrument: P. Grogan fcJ, page 189-190)

And no wonder! In the situation confronting her Sisters she could quite
clearly hear the cry of Jesus: I thirst!



Liverpool 1844

When Father Parker wrote formally to the foundress inviting her to take
charge of the Parish Girls’ and Infants’ Schools, he addressed the letter to
her at 116 Islington, the house of a Mr Denis Madden in which one of St
PatricK’s priests, Father Haggar, was to die of plague only three years later.

The Sisters must have known that they faced great difficulties in their new
apostolate but it is doubtful if they could have guessed at the full scale of
the problems before them.

Great George’s Square

Marie Madeleine and Julie Guillemet soon took possession of a large
house at Number 2, Great George’s Square, the East side. This was one
of the best addresses in the town at the time. A satirical verse speaks of

the determination of an upwardly mobile lady to move there for she had
heard

‘Of the song of the birds in the fresh morning air,
Of the first rate Society found in the Square ...~

Contemporary Buildings

Liverpool was in many respects an opulent sea port, with buildings on a
grandiose scale. The foundation stone of St George’s I-WI was laid in 1838
to mark Queen Victoria’s Coronation. Faulkner Terrace and Gambier
Terrace had been built in the decade before and Princes Road, the height
of elegance, was laid out a couple of years after the community arrived.

Immigration

Very close to these elegant houses were areas in which living conditions
were a nightmare and much of the Sisters’ work was here. The movement
of people from the country districts to the towns and



cities which was taking place all over the industrialising country was
accentuated by the Irish immigrants who flocked to Liverpool. Many
sailed on from the port across the Atlantic in the so-called ‘coffin ships, so
called because of the large number of deaths on them.

Even the journey to Liverpoo] was hazardous. In December 1848 on a
trip from Sligo to Liverpool, 206 dock passengers were forced below by
bad weather, packed into a space 18 feet by 10 feet by 7 feet. Seventy-two
died of suffocation. In April 1849 coming from Dublin. three deck pas-
sengers died from exposure. It is estimated that in the worst famine year,
1847, more than 100,000 emigrants sailed for Canada and at least a fifth
of them died at sea. Poverty had driven people to cross the Irish Sea in a
growing stream since about 1800 but the Potato Blight led to the famine
which resulted in the greatest movement.

Living Conditions and Disease

The poor people lived in squalid conditions, many in damp, overcrowded
cellars. The priests were reported to have had to use their top hats as tables
at times for want of a clean place when they took Communion to the sick.

In one of the worst areas near Great Crosshall Street, it was estimated that
7,938 people lived in an area of 49,000 square feet (4508 square metres.)
In London conditions were bad, 32 out of every 100 children died before
reaching the age of nine. In Liverpool as a whole the figure went up to 49
children; and in the Vauxhall Ward, typical of the worst overcrowding,
poorest sanitation and greatest poverty, 64 out of every 100 children died
before their ninth birthdays.

The Martyrs of the Plague

Cholera and typhoid spread rapidly. The worst year was 1847. Mother
Xavier O’'Neill fcJ, headmistress of St Patrick’s died during the epidemic.



Of the ten priests listed on the Plague Cross outside St PatricK’s, four,
including Father Parker, are from the parish. Their courage in visiting the
plague victims in the cellars and slums won them the title ‘martyr priests,
matching the better known Reformation martyrs like Ambrose Barlow
and John Almond.

The sub-deacon at Father Parker’s Requiem Mass was a young priest,
Father Nugent, who was to become famous for his work of providing for
the destitute children of the city.

An eye witness gave a chilling account of the parish at the time, just three
years after the Sisters came. He recalled a messenger coming to the Pro-
Cathedral and saying hurriedly, ‘For God’s sake will some of you come
to St Patrick’s and bury the dead, the church is full of corpses, and all the
priests are now down. The dead and the dying are lying down together’
The little children, already doomed, were playing with the wood shavings
on which the bodies lay. He went on to say that St Patrick’s Church was
closed, the presbytery door stood open but there were no priests within,
and when Sunday came, silence reigned round the altar.

The Catholic Emancipation Act of 1829 ended most of the disabilities
affecting Catholics and Nonconformists such as restrictions on land
inheritance, bars against membership of the armed forces and legal pro-
fession, and graduation from University. The movement had been sup-
ported by the Liberals but not much by the Catholics of Liverpool who
seem to have kept a low profile until 1824 when they joined in a campaign
led by William Rathbone for civil and religious liberty.

There was considerable local sympathy for the Catholics. The building of
St Patrick’s in 1821 marked a new era. It was funded by public subscription



and as well as offerings of the English Catholics, many leading Whigs in
the city gave generously. The Irish Regiment was stationed in the city at the
time and permission was granted for the men to march in the procession
which marked the laying of the foundation stone. The statue of St Patrick
was the first outward sign of Catholicism since the Reformation. The
members of the Society of St Patrick minuted that the ‘contemplate with
delight the gradual extinction of those prejudices founded on unmerited
suspicion and wicked misrepresentations which have so long operated.

However, there was also strong anti-Catholic feeling which persisted
well into the twentieth century. It is difficult to imagine the tensions that
existed in those days when we consider the close associations between
Christians in Liverpool today.

Political Exploitation of Religious Tensions.

Education in Liverpool was strongly bound up with politics in the 1840s.
In the late eighteenth century, the Tory Council had not been anti-Cath-
olic; for example, St Peter’s See Street, was built in 1788 on land leased
from the council at a quite reasonable figure. However this was changed
by the 1835 Act which allowed many more people to vote in local elec-
tions. The wider franchise led to a Whig Victory in December 1835, with
the party, then including William Rathbone, taking 43 of the 48 seats on
the council which had previously been solidly Tory. Religious tensions
were fully exploited in the campaigns leading to the next election. The
Tories regained control, having spent five years stirring up racial and
religious bigotry in the town and exploiting the problems raised by the
immigrants. The issue of education had been central to tile campaign and
the Catholics were seriously disadvantaged by the Tory victory of 1841.
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The Sisters arrived therefore at a time when Catholic children had in effect
been excluded from the Council schools by a change of policy which
insisted on the use of the Authorised Version of the Bible and a common
form of prayer.

The Catholic authorities wrote to the Council that they begged ‘most
respectfully to state... that they cannot conscientiously concur in such
arrangements whereby the religious principles of the children attend-
ing the schools will be compromised. Catholic children were withdrawn
from the Council schools and a number of Catholic Schools as well as
Churches opened in the next few years. The Irish Christian Brothers
came to St Patrick’s in 1842. The Benedictines began the building of St
Anne’s Overbury Stteet and St Oswald’s in Old Swan was opened. Daniel
O’Connell, then Lord Mayor of Dublin spoke at a meeting to raise funds
for the Jesuits to build St Francis Xavier’s Church. Several other religious
orders came to work in the city at this time, including the Sisters of Notre
Dame, Sisters of the Good Shepherd and Sisters of Mercy.

Public Disorder

The FCJs also had to face the riots in the area. There had been a confron-
tation between Irish and police in Park Lane in 1835 ended by troops sent
in by the Mayor. In 1841 there were clashes between immigrants and the
ships’ carpenters, a group feeling threatened by competition for work at
a time when iron hulled ships were reducing their opportunities. Many
of St Patrick’s windows were broken and a woman praying in the church
died of fright. Feelings ran high and next day St James’ Anglican church
windows were smashed in retaliation in spite of the priests’ appeal against
revenge.

In 1844, the year the Faithful Companions of Jesus arrived, there were
several attacks on St Patrick’s and the Mayor was asked to provide protec-
tion, which be did. In 1848 attempts were made to pull down St Patrick’s
statue and one of its fingers was broken off.
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Religious Intolerance — The Background

Liverpool was not a very large town until the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries and it did not have a cathedral. Religious persecution in Penal
times was somewhat less fierce than in more politically significant areas.

Despite its lack of importance there is a very long Christian tradition
which includes the story that St Patrick preached in the town on his way
to the Isle of Man. At least until 1775 a cross marked the place very near
to the present church of Holy Cross. The church of St Mary in Walton
dates from Saxon times and is mentioned in the Doomsday Book. There
was a chapel in the Castle, where Queen Victorias monument now stands.
The church of St Mary of the Quay;, close to the river, near the present Pier
Head and the ‘chapel’ of ‘Chapel Street, was mentioned in a document
of the mid-thirteenth century, but had been built years before that. The
Church of St Nicholas was built in 1355 just behind the little chapel of St
Mary of the Quay. At the time of the Reformation in the mid-sixteenth
century, St Nicholas’ became the parish church for the established Church
of England and the little chapel was used by the town as a warehouse.

Many families remained true to the Catholic faith, Names that occur in
a warning to the mayor of ‘disaffection’” are the Harringtons of Huyton
and the Blundells of Crosby and the Scarisbricks of Scarisbrick. The
main reason that Spoke Hall is an unaltered example of a Tudor house is
that the Norris family had to pay so much in tax because they remained
Catholics for several generations that they did not have the money for
improvements. The last wing to be built included a priest’s hole as a hiding
place for the clergy who visited the family when possible. Hiding was
important because the penalty for being a priest was to be hanged, drawn
and quartered. Ambrose Barlow, a Benedictine monk was executed in this
way in 1641.
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In the eighteenth century it was possible to be a Catholic without serious
risk of legal action being taken and a number of priests, man of them
Jesuits, served Liverpool and built several small chapels, disguising
them as ordinary buildings. One was in Sir Thomas’ Buildings in the
present Sir Thomas Street. This stood until 1898 but the site is now part
of the Education Offices. Although they were disguised, the chapels were
attacked many times. Worshippers had to go into the buildings in small
groups so as not to draw attention to them and the bell was not rung at
mass for fear of alerting enemies to what was going on.

The Needs Met by the Sisters

One of the FCJ Sisters writing in 1863 gives some idea of the needs of
the adult women as well as the children for education. “The parish of St
PatricK’s ... is the resort of a number of poor Irish families whom destitu-
tion has forced to quit their fatherland. The greater number come from
the out-of-the-way country districts in Ireland far removed from the pop-
ulous centres. The clergy there, too few in these days to attend to the spiri-
tual wants of their widely dispersed flocks, can visit them but rarely,and
stay a very short time with them. Thus these poor people grow up sadly
ignorant of their religion and, when they settle in the land of their exile,
and wish to approach the sacraments, tbe priests often find them wanting
in the needful knowledge’ The Sisters received these poor women ‘with
open arms’ and held regular meetings for them.

Evening classes were held for many years, instructing the women, pre-
paring them for the sacraments and attempting to help them cope with
poverty, disease, crime and drunkenness. Some of them were so poor that
they could not attend church until they had been provided with clothes.

The pressure on the Sisters was enormous. For example they were asked
to hold classes every evening, not just twice a week. Marie Madeleine
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wrote to Mother Julie, “Tell Father Parker that God alone can do every-
thing at once; human beings have to take time’ She also insisted that
Father Parker should not go in and out of the schools as he pleased!

In spite of riot, plague, political dissension and whatever problems Father
Parker had caused by going ‘in and out as he pleased’ the Sisters remained
in Liverpool and their work spread to other parishes as these were built.
Some of today’s difficulties echo those of the past but Marie Madeleine
and Julie Guillemet would find plenty to than God for if they could see
the south end of Liverpool today.
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St Patrick’s

The call to Liverpool was the Society’s - first undertaking in the industrial
North of England and was very much after Madame d’'Houét’s own heart.
The need was great, there was much good to be done.

Early Days: 18441846

The story of the early days of Liverpool undertaking has been graphically
described by Sister Patricia Grogan.

After their day’s work (the women) readily came for instruction
and preparation for the sacraments. During these sessions they
were made aware of their dignity both as human beings and chil-
dren of God. Besides being taught to pray, they learned how to
improve the sad conditions in which they were living.

As was to be expected there were many difficulties: some of these
arose from the heavy demands made on the community or the ill-
health of the Sisters, other from Father Parker’s eagerness to get
everything moving immediately. ‘God alone who is omnipotent’,
wrote Marie Madeleine, can take on all things at once. We poor
creatures must take both time and means.

The task facing the community was immense, becoming a broad
fundamental mission of human assistance covering many diverse
ministries. To the poor children, besides a basic elementary
instruction, the Sisters taught personal cleanliness, order, self-
respect. They gave bread to the hungry, clothes to those in rags, to
all their love and understanding.
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Months later Father Parker wrote expressing his appreciation to Madame
d’Houét:

Your Sisters have a special grace for instructing our poor women.
We notice that once these good people have been under instruc-
tion with them, they make good confessions....

It often happens these poor women come to the confessional,
unkempt and barely covered with unsightly rags, their sordid sur-
roundings having all but obliterated every vestige of civilisation.

We send them to your Sisters and in three weeks or so they return
decently clad, well prepared for the sacraments and both ready
and happy to begin a new Christian life. I have arranged with
my assistant priest that in future we shall admit to the sacraments
only those newcomers to the parish who bring a not signed by
the sister responsible for their instruction. In our many heavy
parish duties, it is a relief for us to be able to hand over these poor
women to your Sisters and to feel that we can rely upon their
ready and willing co-operation.

Initially the classes were held twice a week but it soon became necessary
to hold them every evening of the week and on Sunday afternoons as well.

There is recorded an incident which throws light on what was going on!

A man from St Patrick’s parish called at the convent one Sunday,
asking to see the Sister in charge of the women’s classes. He came,
quite unknown to his wife, to report on her progress! ‘Since she has
attended your classes, he said, ‘things are going fine at home; no more
swearing, no quarrelling in the house. We pray together morning and
night, and even keep silence at times. This last item seemed to surprise
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him more than anything else. He added, however, that Sister’s work was
not yet completed; his wife still had certain faults to be corrected. ‘T will
come from time to time, he assured Sister, ‘to report on my wife’s prog-
ress, but I beg you don’t let her know anything about this!” The Foundress
was visiting Liverpool at the time and thoroughly enjoyed the incident!

Mother Xavier O’Neill

From 1842, the Irish Christian Brothers had been teaching the boys of the
area but there is no record of classes for girls and infants. There was only
one building available, that in South Chester Street; the boys remained
on the upper floor and the girls and infants occupied the ground floor.
Soon there were 400 of them, only four of whom had made their first
Communion so preparation for the sacraments was a major Work.- The
Sisters also established the Sodality of Our Lady and the Association of
Christian Mothers. Mother Xavier O’Neill fc] was the first Headmistress
of St PatricK’s school and, besides being headmistress, she was the moving
force behind the missionary work done amongst the women and girls.

One of her contemporaries describing Mother Xavier’s punishing sched-
ule says that by 1845 there were between five and six hundred in the school
and then she took the adults each evening. On Sunday mornings she was
with the children at Mass, on Sunday evenings there was an Instruction
for adults. Mother Xavier had never been physically strong so it was no
wonder that when typhoid fever broke out she became infected with the
disease and died on April 30th 1846, fearfully disfigured and discoloured,
her face covered with scars.

The work of the Sisters was already expanding when the potato famines
of 1846 and 184 7 brought thousands more Irish immigrants to Liverpool.
Park Lane and the area around St Patrick’s was the district to which
they were drawn. Liverpool Corporation and the merchants who firmly
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believed that Deus nobis haec otia fecit were anxious to help the newcom-
ers but it was impossible for anyone to keep pace with the great numbers.
Inevitably amongst those who died of the epidemic whilst serving the sick
and dying was Father Parker, April 27th 1847.

By 1857 there were six hundred in the day school, sixty in the night school,
seven hundred in the Sunday school and three hundred and fifty adults
being instructed and prepared for the sacraments.

Mother Julia Stack

It is not clear who followed Mother Xavier as Headmistress but from 1870
to 1886 that position was held by Mother Julia Stack, known through-
out the area as ‘gentle Mother Julia It could well be that she was already
in office by that date, since the Census returns for 1861 show that she
was in the community at Gt George’s Square, but it is following the 1870
Education Act that the School log book begins. Mother Julia who had
made her noviciate under the direction of the Foundress, was the only
certified teacher in the school; the staff consisted entirely of pupil-teach-
ers and monitresses. There was still a great deal of poverty and there are
many entries showing donations received to buy clogs for the most needy
and of dinners being given at one halfpenny each ‘for those who could
afford a halfpenny-otherwise free’

Like Mother Xavier before her, Mother Julia was in charge of the Night
Schools and Children of Mary. No wonder that even after her death it was
not uncommon for FCJs to hear ‘God bless you, Mother Julia, murmured
after them by old men and women as they passed in the streets.

In 1871 Inspectors visited the school for the first time. They appear to
have been satisfied with the work of staff and pupils but, when he read
their comments on the overcrowded state of the school, the Parish Priest,
Father Goethals, must have been relieved to be able to say that a new
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building, for Girls and Infants, was almost ready in Hyslop Street.

But one new building was not enough. The numbers continued to grow
and after each inspection the same comment was made: ‘School badly
overcrowded; additional accommodation very desirable’ In 868 a new
parish, Our Lady of Mount Carmel, had been formed and a school
chapel did something to relieve the pressure on St Patrick’s but on March
10th 1877 the Log book reads: ‘School overcrowded; about 200 children
belonging to neighbouring districts dismissed by the Manager on account
of the overcrowded state of the school. Great confusion caused by the dis-
missal of the children. Parents entreating for their readmission.

It is difficult to say precisely how many FCJs were in the schools in the
early days - the Census returns for 1851 do not list occupations; in 1861
there are seven mentioned as teaching and by 1871 there are thirteen,
without specifying which school anyone is in. What we do know from a
letter written on behalf of the Superior General, Mother Josephine Petit
in 1877 is that she was concerned about Mother Julia being ‘alone in that
large room. She arranged for Mother Helena ‘to go with her even though
the government does not exact a second mistress. Mother Helena will
not be paid-she is there ‘to be with Mother Julia and to be formed herself
for school work so that she may be useful when required.” Later, Mother
Helena remains at home in the Square to give music lessons and Sister
Winifred goes to St PatricK’s. Sister Winifred we learn later, stayed only till
4.30 and went home ‘when Sister takes the tea to St Patricks... and the rest
are together giving the pupil teachers’ lessons” When Sister Mary Joseph
Carroll died in 1908 at ‘an advanced age’ she remembered clearly the early
days in Great George’s Square and the Dean of St Patrick’s reminded his
hearers of how she had ‘taught, lovingly, patiently when St Patrick’s school
was little more than a cellar’

When Mother Julia left St Patrick’s at the end of 1885, she went to Canada
where she worked for another 25 years. After her death in Edmonton,
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Alberta in March 1916, one priest remarked that ‘she had fulfilled a life-
time of work even before she came to this continent’ and when news of
her death reached St Patrick’s there was great sorrow. A solemn Requiem
Mass was offered for her and the church was crowded by those who
remembered her with deep love and gratitude. The affection between
Mother Julia and the people of the parish was mutual. She had spent the
last half hour of her life ‘relating some oft-repeated story of St Patricks’
before collapsing and dying very suddenly.

M. Stanislaus Myerscough

When at Easter 1871 the girls and infants moved into the Hyslop
Street premises, the Infants were separate and organised in an Infants’
Department under the care of Mother Stanislaus Myerscough fcJ until
1910.

There was something ‘so right about the fact that Mother Stanislaus should
eventually die during the Christmas Season. Throughout the forty years
she worked in St Patrick’s Infants’ School, the work of the Holy Childhood
and devotions to the Infant Jesus were characteristics of the School. When
she died on January 6th 1917 “The Catholic Times’ reported how:

For forty yean M. Stanislaus held sway with sweet dignity and
kindly kindly firmness as Headmistress of St Patrick’s Infants’
School, and was deeply beloved by all the parish who owed to
her their first lessons in the Faith and love of God. Brimful of
zeal for the salvation of souls there was no action in her life
but was actuated by spiritual motives, and this spirit she ever
sought to instil into the minds fo her pupils. To the children
under her care, the Baby Jesus was a living reality, partaking
of all their little joys and sorrows, and ruling them as LITTLE
KING. Children in school at the present day, often tell pious
stories, give meditations etc. which Mother Stanislaus had taught
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their mothers, and there is many a brave lad in the trenches today,
who owes his strong faith to the early lessons received from this
saintly Mother.

Mother Hilda Fletcher

In the Girls’ School, Mother Julia was succeeded by Mother Hilda Fletcher
who became a legend in her own life time.

Known variously as Miss Fletcher, Mother ’ilder and the ‘Mother of the
Poor, at the age of 22 she replaced Mother Julia as Headmistress in the
Hyslop Street premises and at the age of 64 retired from the same posi-
tion. Forty-two years (1886-1928) of ‘highly successful service’ carried
out in a ‘quietly efficient and sympathetic manner’. These are the words of
the Director of Education who, at the time of Mother Hilda’s retirement
went on to say :

Your influence... has been at once an inspiration and a source
of strength to your staff. This influence has been backed by an
immense practicality.

This immense practicality showed itself in the way in which Mother Hilda
pioneered the practical teach of Domestic Science under the normal con-
ditions of the neighbourhood. Her vision and foresight were responsible
to great extent for the improved living conditions in the area.

On Christmas Day 1895, the Sisters served breakfast for 240 of our
poorest children whose hungry looking eyes brightened at the sight of a
plentiful supply of food” and they distributed warm clothing which had
been in part made by the community and in part made by others. “We had
the satisfaction of seeing them part with clothing which hardly deserved
the name, being but a collection of rags’

In 1897 in the examinations held by the Liverpool School Board of
Domestic Economy, one of the St PatricK’s girls won first prize and
twenty-nine girls gained certificates from the Lancashire and Cheshire
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Institute of Domestic Economy, Cookery and Dressmaking. And in
1899 a Protestant Clergyman, Chairman of the Liverpool School Board,
‘was most delighted with the cookery kitchen, and in his report to the
City Night Schools spoke in terms of high praise of the work done at St
Patricks.

For a long time unofficial laundry lessons were givens, in that, twelve at a
time, the older girls were encouraged to bring their own personal laundry
to school on Friday mornings and in turn they were shown correct
methods of washing and ironing. But in 1899 Mother Hilda persuaded
the Liverpool School Board that dressmaking, cookery and laundry work
should be incorporated into the ordinary curriculum. A former billiard
room was fitted with teak washing-troughs, hot and cold water, ironing
tables and equipment and Miss Travis was given permission to take a year
out for the purpose of obtaining a Teaching Diploma in Laundry work.

Housecraft was added in 1'909, and 1918 First Aid, Home Nursing and
Care of Babies was added to the curriculum! Mother Hilda’s concern was
two fold-there was the personal training of her girls but there was also
the fact that most of her pupils would go into domestic service and she
wanted them to get the best jobs going!

By this time not only the curriculum was established, so too was the
traditions of concerts, processions, retreats, sales of work... Christmas
trees and toys sent by ‘our good Protestant friend Mr. Bailey, tableaux
vivants, mimes, puppet shows and baby shows. The Laundry was very
versatile... it could on occasion be decorated with flags and flowers for a
party for wounded soldiers, or be ‘transformed into rooms which resem-
ble a Continental Café of the latest type’ (1917) or ‘a delightful Japanese
café(1919).

And Mother Hilda’s efforts to bring colour, literally, into the area are wit-

nessed to by descriptions of Chinese Lanterns (1193), bowers of foliage
erected to celebrate Dean Goethals Jubilee (1913), a May procession
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‘beautiful in it simplicity. The girls were dressed in pure white and wore
silver wreaths, each child carrying a twig of lime, the tender green of which
we piously believed was symbolic of the constancy of St Patrick’s children
to their Heavenly Queen. For this occasion the streets of the parish lose
their sordid appearance and become long bowers of greenery in the midst
of which many a shrine is erected in honour of the holy Mother of God’
(1924).

During Mother Hilda’s years as Headmistress the night classes established
in 1844 for the religious and social education of the women were no longer
needed for their original purpose. They were replaced in 1892 by evening
classes for girls who bad recently left school and for any of the senior girls
who wished to attend. At these ‘continuation classes’ cookery, laundry
work and dressmaking were taught and the members were encouraged to
avail of the lending library.

One who like Mother Hilda, was loved throughout the parish, was Mother
Austin Hothersall. She had first come to Liverpool in 1896 and taught at
Robertson Street before moving to St Patrick’s. She was renowned for her
inexhaustible activity in the corporal and spiritual works of mercy and
the women of the parish loved her. She had the gift of making their every
trouble her own and had a special gift of always making just the right
inquiry about their well-being and never forgot anything they would like
to have had remembered. For several years after her retirement she used
to go with Mother Hilda to the Mothers’ Guild every Monday afternoon.
Similarly she had a great gift for instructing converts since ‘her sympathy
helped her enter into each ones difficulties and give to each the right kind
of encouragement.

In 1924 the Sodality of the Holy Family and St Anne was revived and
the Sisters were asked to take charge. In addition to the church service
there was a weekly gathering in the School basement. It was ‘a busy cheer-
ful time, making and mending-knitting, crochet and sewing machine’
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The children went down to entertain their mothers with little songs,
dances, recitations and the older girls acted as waitresses... yet other ways
in which Mother Hilda was making sure that the girls would acquire
grace and elegance.

Another School Inspector’s Report includes the judgement ‘Reading has
been taught in such a way that the older girls have been led to appreciate
books’-and Mother Hilda built up a library with books available for bor-
rowing, and singing, elocution, botany walks in the Parks, calisthenics,
drill and above all, folk dancing were all part of her scheme of things.

There was no playground-just small cinder covered spaces either side
of the church, so organised games were impossible. But folk dancing
in the classrooms (with the benches pushed back), in the cloakroom,
in the laundry (on cookery days), in the street (in fine weather!) was
a great success. ‘English country Morris and sword dances, Scottish,
Scandinavian and Polish..] Teams of dancers were entered for festivals,
just as choirs were entered for contests and individuals for essay competi-
tions. In 1889 ten girls received prizes for good writing from Lewis’s, two
years later Kate Martin (Standard VI) received a certificate and book from
the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals for an essay entitled:
Kindness to Animals.

The Girls bad benefited from the services secured by the Board of
Education, of Mr Tomlins, the celebrated Am